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Thursday, May 24, 2012


--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  We've convened this morning to hear reply submissions from the applicants in this case.  Are there any preliminary matters?


MR. CASS:  No, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you decided on an order, Mr. Cass and Mr. Smith?


MR. CASS:  I guess we have.  I guess I'm first, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please proceed.

Reply Argument by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, we've had extensive arguments in this case, including numerous pages of written submissions and virtually a full day of oral submission.  It's not my intent to try to respond to each and every point that's come up through all of those extensive submissions.  I think we'd be here for quite a while, and I don't think it would be of value to the Board.


What I'm going to try to do is hit on the areas that have emerged during the hearing that I think the Board would want to hear from me on.  I will do my best to do that.


Of course, if I miss things that are of concern to the Board and I don't include them in these areas, I'd be more than happy to answer questions and to fill out my submissions into other areas.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. CASS:  In my effort, though, to try to come to, get a grip on what would be of value to the Board in reply argument, I've settled on five general areas.  The first is issues around what has been called "mandate".  The second is extensive discussion that's occurred with respect to the Board objectives.  The third I've just put into the general category of customer choice, because I think that's been a theme in the proceeding.  Fourth is the concept of RFPs.


And then my fifth area is just a general area.  I can't sum it up in one word.  Some parts of the fifth area will be some misconceptions that I think have perpetuated themselves in this hearing, and at least in my view, I think it's important to clear those up, and also some areas where I think the arguments have gone astray, sometimes to the point of being virtually the opposite of the view that the applicants would have taken of the case.  So that will be generally the fifth area that I address.


First of all, with respect to mandate, it sounds from the arguments that there actually is no dispute about the Board's jurisdiction except in the case of CME, which did indicate some jurisdictional issue.  In my submission, just to put this aside as quickly as possible, there really is no jurisdictional issue.


CME itself actually recognized the source of jurisdiction that the applicants rely on.  It's section 36 of the act.  section 36 gives the Board the authority to approve the cost consequences of gas acquisition for the purposes of supply of gas to customers.  That is the source of authority.


In my submission, there's no serious argument that the Board does not have jurisdiction to apply that authority in the circumstances of this case.


Just for absolute clarity, there's been a lot of discussion about the Board objectives, which I will come to.  And I'm not totally certain whether some parties seem to have the notion that the applicants were using the objectives as a source of the Board's jurisdiction or authority.


In case there is any doubt about that whatsoever, the applicants rely on section 36 as the source of authority.  The objectives do come into it, for reasons the parties have talked about, and I will address those, but, as has been considered by the Board in previous cases, it's certainly not the applicants' position that the objectives themselves are the source of jurisdiction.


To come then to the submissions about mandate, I must say, it was not entirely clear to me, as some parties talked about mandate, what the difference is between mandate and jurisdiction.  The point seemed to be, on mandate, as best I can gather it, is that one can look through this statute, the Ontario Energy Board Act, and one won't actually find something that talks about the Board's mandate in respect of an RNG program.


I take that, for example, from the Direct Energy argument at page 1 and, to some extent, from Board counsel's argument that -- the point seemed to be, where do we look in this statute to find the Board's mandate in respect of renewable natural gas?


The point, of course, is that one could talk about any -- or virtually any element of the gas-supply portfolio and one is not going to be able to go to the OEB Act and see some specific words there, utility has a mandate or the Board has a mandate, in this area.


For example, an element of Enbridge's gas-supply portfolio is peaking supplies.  One doesn't find specific words in the Ontario Energy Board Act talking about a mandate to acquire peaking supplies.


Similarly, and perhaps a more directly applicable comparison, is the acquisition of conventional local production.  That is certainly something that is done more extensively by Union than Enbridge.  There's no doubt about mandate in that area.  One doesn't -- can't read through the statute and find something that talks about the Board's mandate in respect of conventional local gas production.


One other point that seemed to go to mandate was made, I think, only by Direct Energy, if I'm not mistaken.  It was a point about a decision that this Board made in a previous Enbridge case.  The Enbridge case was EB-2009-0172.  And as the Board will recall, it had to do with a proposal Enbridge had for certain green energy initiatives.


At pages 12 to 13 of its argument, Direct Energy quotes extensively from the Board decision in that particular case.  Without even needing to turn it up, even the quotes that Direct Energy relies upon make it clear over and over that what the Board was addressing in that case was its willingness to approve the inclusion of particular assets related to green energy initiatives in rate base.


Again, the reference is pages 12 to 13 of Direct Energy's argument, and the quotes there from the Board's decision say that over and over, what the Board was considering was inclusion of specific assets into rate base.  That was what the Board said that it was not prepared to approve.


In this particular case, Enbridge has taken into account the direction provided by the Board in that proceeding.  Enbridge has no proposal to put assets into rate base in connection with the RNG program.


Again, this case is about an element of the gas-supply portfolio.  It's not -- much like local production.  It's not about including assets in rate base, which is what was addressed in that previous decision.


That then would bring me to the Board objectives.  I have a somewhat lengthy submission on this, only because it seemed to get so much attention through the hearing.  I would not necessarily myself have seen it as having that leading importance in this hearing, but it has been given a lot of attention, so there are a number of points to respond -- that merit a response.


Again, in part, this discussion of Board objectives was a prominent feature of Board counsel's submissions.  And in Board counsel's submission there was also a discussion of the public-interest mandate.  That, of course, was a feature of my argument-in-chief, and I brought forward the Township of Dawn case because of some of the very broad statements made in that decision about the Board's public-interest mandate.


As I listened to Board counsel, there certainly seemed to be an acceptance that there's a public-interest consideration under section 36.  However, I wasn't just sure whether there was somewhat of a reluctance towards that acceptance.


The comment made at volume 6 of the transcript, page 88, was that:

"The just and reasonable powers are largely akin to the public interest."


Lest there be any doubt about it, I just wanted to re-emphasize that there is no question about the public-interest mandate under section 36.


I'd previously brought the Township of Dawn case to the Board.  Another case that the Board would be well aware of that went to the courts was the proceeding that involved the Board's jurisdiction to approve low-income programs.


The Divisional Court rendered a decision in that case that was in support of the Board's jurisdiction.  I don't have a handout.  I just wanted to read one paragraph from that decision because, again, it's as clear as it could possibly be about the public-interest considerations under section 36.


This paragraph is actually a quote from yet another Divisional Court decision, and it says:

"The legislation involves economic regulation of energy resources, including setting prices for energy which are fair and reasonable to the distributors and the suppliers, while at the same time are a reasonable cost for the consumer to pay.  This will frequently engage the balancing of competing interests as well as consideration of broad public policy."


Board counsel's submission with respect to the objectives was that this public-interest mandate must be looked at through the lens of the objectives; that's from page 86 of volume 6 of the transcript.


And in the course of Board counsel's submissions, there was a reference to things that are within the objectives, things that are perhaps tangentially -- I think was the word -- within the objectives, and things that are maybe not within the objectives but are still part of the broad public interest.

I'm not sure what to make of that, and I'm not sure how much difference there is between what Board counsel was saying and what I'm saying on behalf of Enbridge; however, there seemed to be a suggestion that there is a hierarchy here that is determined by the objectives.

While this is an interesting concept, I would suggest to the Board that it's not necessarily helpful to the Board's exercise of its jurisdiction to put this sort of hierarchy construct around its consideration of any particular case.

The submission I intended to make before, and I hope I did and I make again, is that there is a broad range of public interest considerations that the Board can take into account in a particular case.  And ultimately, the weight to be given to those depends on the circumstances of each case.

There should not be an attempt to put a pre-defined construct around how to weight those factors.

Again, I emphasize, the weight should depend on the circumstances of each case.  I'll just give a couple of examples.

Suppose the Board had two alternatives before it that are evenly balanced, except for one very strong public interest consideration that doesn't happen to be in the objectives.  In my submission, the fact that that's not in the objectives, in the circumstances of that case where it is the overriding difference between these two alternatives, shouldn't really matter.  It's not in the objectives.

In the circumstances of that case, it would be quite unfortunate if the fact that this strong public interest factor is not mentioned in the objectives caused the Board some concern to take that into account.

Another example would be a particular case where there's a very strong public interest consideration going one way, and maybe some weak signals under the objectives.  Again, it would be unfortunate if this sort of hierarchy around the Board's consideration of the public interest were to suggest to the Board that these perhaps weak signals under the objectives have to override -- again, in the circumstances of that case -- something that's actually a very strong public interest consideration.

Again, my point is simply the weight of this public interest considerations depends on the circumstances of each case, and this construct around the objectives, in my submission, is not helpful to the Board.

Having said those general comments about the objectives, I'd like to talk more specifically about some of the objectives, obviously in relation to gas, under section 2 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.

One of the objectives that's certainly received attention in this case, and rightly so, is the first one under section 2:

"To facilitate competition in the sale of gas to users."

The utilities actually structured their program in recognition of this objective.  The concern that the Board has heard repeatedly is that a voluntary program would put the utilities in the position of marketers.  The utilities' concern was being respectful of the objective of having competition in the sale of gas, and not having the utilities usurp the role of marketers or put themselves into a role as marketers that has not been recognized by the Board.

So in fact the utilities, in the way they've structured the program, have tried to be respectful of this, and I think in the evidence repeatedly indicated their concern about a structure of the program that would effectively turn the utilities into marketers of the gas commodity.

The second objective, again, is a very important one:

"To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices and the reliability and quality of gas service."

Again, and perhaps even more fundamentally, the RNG program was structured in recognition of this particular objective.  The intent of the utilities, as you've heard from the evidence, was to design a program that takes into account and protects the interests of consumers with respect to prices.  As a result, it's a key feature of the program that it has the cap on volumes that is intended to limit prices to a reasonable and appropriate level.  That was a fundamental element of the design of the program in recognition of objective number 2, under section 2.

In the course of arguments that the Board has heard so far, there has been discussion of the FIT program.  Part of this discussion related to the extent to which the RNG program is similar to the FIT program.  There was also a reference to whether -- not whether.  There was also a reference to the possibility of lessons learned from the FIT program.  That's at volume 6 of the transcript, page 133.

In my submission, there is a fundamental difference between the FIT program and the proposed RNG program.  This fundamental difference could well be put into the category of lessons learned.

The difference is that the RNG program has been structured specifically with this cap around it to limit price impacts to a reasonable level.  By comparison on that aspect, the FIT program is open-ended.

So all this, of course, that I've been saying about a reasonable level to protect the interests of consumers in accordance with the objective under section 2 of the act begs the question as to what is a reasonable level.

The utilities, of course, chose to conduct a survey to put some parameters around this, to get an understanding of a level of price impact that could be considered to protect the interests of consumers.

Now, there's been much discussion of the survey and the extent to which the Board should or should not rely on it.  In all of this discussion, though, in all of the time that people have spent on this survey, I, speaking for myself, have not heard anyone with a better suggestion as to how the Board can put some parameters around what is a reasonable level of price to protect the interests of consumers.

I would emphasize that, in my submission, while objective 2 certainly talks about interests of consumers with respect to prices, and objective 5, as I will come to, talks about the consumer's economic circumstances, there is most certainly nothing in these objectives that says the objective of the Board should be to keep prices at the lowest possible level, regardless of all consequences.

That would be quite a startling thing to be said here if it was, and it clearly is not.

The objectives, instead of guiding the Board to set prices at the lowest possible level regardless of consequences, direct or guide the Board to protect the interests of consumers.  That, in my submission, means something other than just the absolute lowest cost, but an effort to put, as I've said, parameters around what is reasonable for consumers in the particular circumstances.

And again, no one has suggested a better way to do that than the survey.

And I also wanted to talk a little bit more about objective number 5.  Again, I have addressed this previously in the proceeding, and I will try not to repeat things that I've said previously.  However, there have been some interesting points that have emerged about this objective.

It certainly has been brought to the Board's attention that the objective not only talks about promoting energy conservation and energy efficiency, but also guides the Board to have regard to the consumer's economic circumstances.

GEC, actually, had submissions on this that I think are a very illuminating way of understanding this objective.

First of all, the objective starts with the words "to promote."  In the context of the objectives in section 2, those are words that are fairly strongly encouraging something active.

Four of the objectives, I believe, talk about "to facilitate," one talks about "to protect," and only two talk about "to promote," objective 5 and also objective 6 about communication.

The Board, in my submission, is being guided to do something a little more active here than in some of the other objectives.  Maybe "active" isn't the best word, but certainly "promote" has a lot stronger content to it, in my submission, than "facilitate."

Now, the importance, in my submission, of the words, "including having regard to the consumer's economic circumstance" -- and again, I'm in debt to GEC for bringing this out -- but those words make clear that in promoting energy conservation and energy efficiency, the legislature is not thinking that the Board will only do things that are cost-free.  If the legislature was thinking that the Board would only do things that are cost-free, these words would be completely inappropriate, "having regard to the consumer's economic circumstances."

So we have two things.  We have that the Board is supposed to promote energy conservation and efficiency, and there's a recognition here that it's not necessarily going to be cost-free, and as a result the Board needs to have regard to the consumer's economic circumstances.

So how exactly is the Board to do that, to have regard to the consumer's economic circumstances while promoting conservation and efficiency of energy, not just natural gas?

Again, I come back to the point I've made that there's been no better idea given to the Board about how to do that, how to get a sense of protecting the consumer's economic circumstances, than a survey.  Who better knows the consumer's economic circumstances than the consumers themselves?

The survey was intended to get at that, to find out what consumers would be comfortable handling within their personal circumstances by way of the company's proposal to promote energy conservation and energy efficiency through the RNG program.  Again, I realize the survey wasn't worded that way.  I'm putting it into my own words to fit into objective 5.

Now, it's certainly the applicants' position that, having taken regard of the consumer's own views of their economic circumstances through a survey, that they have brought forward a proposal that is structured around that, that really takes that as a fundamental building block, so that their proposal involves a reasonable level of cost on a per-customer basis, and that the Board can be satisfied that the objectives under section 2 have been met.

What has happened in the course of this proceeding, as the Board is well aware, is that CCC has taken this per-customer cost which, in my submission, is indeed a reasonable one, it has extended it over the entire customer base or system gas customer base of Union and Enbridge, it has extended it over 20 years, to come up with a number.

This number may be a headline-grabber, but I ask the Board to consider, what does it really have to do with the case or the survey?

First, this headline-grabber sort of number, to have any meaning at all, has to be put into a perspective and a context.  At the very least, it has to have the context of what the overall gas costs are over the same period.

In my recollection of CCC's submissions, there was not at any time an effort to put that number into a context or a perspective that would make it meaningful for either the Board or the survey.

Second, as I've already stated, objective 5, in my submission, has to be taken to contemplate the Board promoting efforts towards energy conservation and energy efficiency that are not cost-free.

In my submission, even -- in any circumstance, a modest per-customer amount can be extrapolated in the same fashion used by CCC to come up with a large number.  Once you take this modest amount, you spread it across virtually all system gas customers in Ontario, because the two utilities before the Board are by far the largest utilities, and then you take it out over a number of years.

Then by doing that, by creating that number and not putting it into any appropriate context or perspective upon which it can be assessed, the effect is to, really, depart from the intent of objective 5, which, again, was that the Board would promote these efforts, subject to regard to the consumer's -- singular -- economic circumstances.

Now, another thing that objective 5 talks about is the policies of the government of Ontario.  And Board counsel went through a discussion as to whether various government instruments or documents can be considered to indicate government policy.

Again, I think Board counsel brought forward some very interesting points, but I would suggest to the Board that this was an extremely narrow view of government policy, for reasons that I will elaborate on.

This view of government policy was so narrow as to even get to the point of saying, Board counsel's saying he's not sure that specific sections of statutes should be taken to indicate policy or that government regulations indicate policy.

Speaking only for myself, I'm at a loss to understand how one could look at a section of a statute or a regulation and conclude that the Board has done something contrary to its own policy.  In my submission, it's a somewhat astounding suggestion that provisions of statutes are not indicative of government policy.

In taking this extremely narrow view of government policy, Board counsel also downplayed statutory preambles, presumably because I had put before the Board in Exhibit K4.1 two statutes with preambles.

As it happens, despite his -- maybe "disdain" is too strong a word, but despite his comments about preambles, Board counsel didn't actually even take you to the words of his own document discussing preambles.  That was Exhibit K5.3.

And at page 4, 4 as numbered with the handwritten numbering, as opposed to the numbering from the original, the discussion of "preamble" starts.  And the very first paragraph of that discussion, if I could read it, is as follows:

"General.  The primary function of a preamble is to recite the circumstances and considerations that give rise to the need for legislation or the 'mischief' the legislation is designed to cure.  However, the recitals constituting a preamble may mention not only the facts which the legislature thought were important, but also principles or policies which it sought to implement or goals to which it aspired."

This document itself confirms that preambles can be looked to for government policies.

Sorry.  And just a couple of other points before I leave this very narrow view of government policy.  Of course, as the Board would have heard repeatedly throughout this proceeding, a very important element of government policy that the RNG program is directed towards is the province of Ontario's goals for greenhouse gas reductions.

The Board has heard repeatedly about the extent to which the program can assist the government of Ontario in meeting those goals for greenhouse gas reduction.  That policy of the government towards greenhouse gas reduction goals was not even mentioned, as far as I could tell, in Board Staff's discussion about government policy.

A second point is that the filing made by Schools, SEC, actually brought yet another perspective to this discussion about government policy.  Schools filed Exhibit K5.5.  It's a very short document because it's an extract, I believe, from the Green Energy and Economy Act -- yes.  The Green Energy and Green Economy Act, not actual Green Energy Act, which was a schedule to that.

But what becomes apparent when one looks at this is that this very objective that we're talking about as it's now currently formulated, this objective 5, is in the statutory package that comprises the Green Energy and Green Economy Act.

So there was a previous formulation, but on the third page of K5.5 filed by SEC, you will see the enactment of the very objective 5 that we're talking about.

So what this K5.5 does is it illustrates to us that this objective in fact is part of the statutory package that includes the Green Energy Act, it includes amendments to the Ontario Energy Board Act, and a variety of other steps taken by the government of Ontario to advance its green energy policies.

So the proposition, if that's what it is, from Board counsel, that in looking at what is government policy one would not even consider the contents of the very package of legislation that includes the reference to government policy, the objective 5, in my submission is really quite an extreme view of how one would find government policy.

Now, just one final point in this area.  Board counsel also wondered about whether reducing GHG emissions is energy conservation or energy efficiency.  That's at volume 6 of the transcript, page 93.

In my submission, this needs to be looked at the other way around; energy conservation and energy efficiency are referred to in objective 5 as being things that should be promoted in accordance with the policies of the government of Ontario.  The policies of the government of Ontario towards energy conservation and efficiency are part of the government's green energy policies towards reducing greenhouse gas emissions.  That's where it comes in.  It comes in through:
"In accordance with the policies of the Government of Ontario."

The government of Ontario's policies about energy conservation and energy efficiency do not exist in a vacuum, particularly in the context that we're now discussing.  They exist in this context of the government of Ontario having green energy policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  And again, we see that because this particular objective was re-enacted in the package of statutes that advances those green energy policies of the government of Ontario.

So that's the route through which greenhouse gas emissions come in.  It's the policies of the government of Ontario.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Cass, I have a question on this point.

The extent to which the proposal can be viewed as an energy efficiency measure, is what you're referring to there the difference, if you like, between the efficiency associated with the biogas program in the production of electricity and the proposed use, the cleaning and creation of the infrastructure to introduce it into the gas system, and ultimately creation of a market for that source of gas, is that the efficiency we're that we're talking about, is the delta between the biogas program as it currently exists and is being supported, and the proposal for creation of a market?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I think that is fair, Mr. Chair.

If I might just elaborate a little bit, I'm one of those people who have difficulties with the boundaries between conservation and efficiency.

In my mind, it would not be entirely clear to me which categories people would put particular things into.  What you're talking about, I think I would put into a category of efficiency.

However, there's just the broader concept here, that as wastes biodegrade, they release methane, whether in landfills, whether manure, whatever.  Methane is released.  That is energy, regardless of whether we're talking about it being used in electricity or just biodegrading into the atmosphere.

So when that happens, there's two impacts of that.  There's the greenhouse gas emissions effect of releasing methane, which we've heard has 21 times more global warming potential than carbon dioxide.  There's also the wasting of that methane, of that energy.  I'd be more inclined to put that under conservation, but someone –- I'm not sure, conservation or efficiency.


But to me there are the two things, either the methane that's being wasted -- maybe it is being flared; maybe it's just going into the atmosphere.  There's also the methane that's being burned to generate electricity, that could more efficiently be used as renewable natural gas.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But just to that point -- and I'm not trying to be argumentative about it.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But the flaring of the methane has the immediate effect of transforming that waste product.  And when we look at the efficiency of this program, it has to be considered somewhere on a continuum of these existing programs and these existing activities.  It's that incremental change that is -- and the question I'm asking, is that incremental change, that's the efficiency that you're targeting in this proposal?

MR. CASS:  I think that's fair, Mr. Chair.  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  So this, then, brings me to my third area, which is customer choice.  I just broadly characterized it as that, because those words seem to have been used a lot in submissions by other parties.

Of course, much attention has been paid to customer choice in the submissions by other parties.  And again, I would say rightly so, that it is an area that deserves this attention.  And particularly because the Fortis BC program, as we've heard, is a voluntary program.

The difficulty here is that a voluntary program is problematic for a number of reasons.  It just is.  Much as customer choice has an appeal when one uses simply those two words, when one looks deeper into the circumstances of this case, it is just very problematic.

I didn't attempt to make a comprehensive list of the issues around that that have been discussed, but I just very quickly was able to bring to mind seven areas that have been discussed in evidence around the difficulty with a voluntary program.

First -- I think I'm right in saying, and I will stand corrected if I'm wrong -- Ontario differs from British Columbia in respect of the gas utilities' role as far as marketing is concerned.

The concern of the gas utilities here in Ontario is that they do not have that role in marketing, and they were trying to be very respective of the Board's objectives around competition in the sale of gas.  That's number one.

And number two, because the utilities have not had a role in marketing the commodity of gas, they don't have the resources for a -- to market a voluntary program.

Third, even if they had the resources, there's the cost of doing it; there's the cost of marketing it to customers.

Fourth, as the Board heard in the evidence, with respect to this cost -- and it's probably just a subset of the third point -- but the more costs that have to be spent on marketing and administration, the less money actually goes to buying RNG and making that a feasible element of the gas supply portfolio.

Fifth, as the Board has heard, having a voluntary program creates issues around how the utilities can have the confidence to enter into these contracts that are needed for RNG producers to make the investment.

Fifth (sic) there's just the complexity that would arise, and it may also be another cost issue, around having two different gas supply portfolios for two different sets of customers.

And seventh is a point that was addressed by GEC and I think also by Mr. Smith, is that the need for a collective response in this area is going to mean a natural reluctance on the part of people to feel that they should be called on to take individual action.

In short, there's a whole host of issues with the concept that the program might be voluntary.

I ask the Board to think about this, though, again in the context of a gas supply portfolio.  As far as I'm aware, customers do not exercise choice in respect of the gas supply portfolio.  Some customer might say:  I would like only shale gas.  Or:  I don't like shale gas.  Exclude shale gas from my portfolio.

I'm not aware that customers have that choice.  And again, perhaps the more direct analogy is local production.  I don't think customers make a choice whether they want local production or not.  The Board has issued decisions in the past in which it has recognized benefits of local production.

So I ask the Board to put customer choice into that context, into the context of the gas supply portfolio.

The other area I would like to address in relation to customer choice is the role of the marketers themselves, those who do market the commodity gas.

I'm going to take my time here and try my best to express this as clearly and as carefully as I can.

The Board would have heard that the utilities' concern, or at least primary concern, around that was the lack of a mechanism for them to make this renewable natural gas supply available to the marketers to market on a voluntary basis to customers.

In this proceeding, that lack of a mechanism does not seem to have taken on the type of concern that the utilities had foreseen; in fact, LPMA submits quite bluntly that the lack of a mechanism is not a valid reason to negate this option.  That's at page 23 of LPMA's argument.

So what was a concern for the utilities does not seem to emerge that way through the course of this proceeding, and in fact, parties like LPMA are arguing it should not be a concern at all.

So having said that, I'm going to try to carefully explain Enbridge's position.  First, any mechanism, as far as Enbridge is concerned, would be one that would keep system gas customers whole.  In other words, there would be voluntary -- there would be a role of marketers that do a voluntary program.  There would still be the RNG program in the utilities, but to the extent that the RNG goes to the marketers, any mechanism would keep those system gas customers whole in respect of the overall costs and the utilities' mandatory program.

To the extent that the Board considered it appropriate to allow such a -- direct or allow such a mechanism, and to the extent that there is an interest in the marketer community - there seems to be through Bullfrog at least - but to the extent that there is an interest in the marketer community, I think I go back to where I started from, which is that it was primarily the lack of that mechanism that was of concern, at least to Enbridge, when it came forward with its proposal.

I hope I've expressed that clearly.  Again, I was trying to tread very carefully in how I state it, but I hope that's said clearly --


MS. CHAPLIN:  So Mr. Cass, are you saying if there was a mechanism then you don't have the -- Enbridge doesn't have the discomfort?

MR. CASS:  If I can just add a couple qualifications.  In the particular circumstances of this case, where we have this RNG program, we have, you know, the case that the applicants have brought forward for why the applicants believe the Board should approve it, but we do have this issue about how to do it on a voluntary basis without the role of the marketers, in those circumstances, and assuming the interest of the marketers, the marketers to come forward and have this interest, the answer is yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  So that brings me to the fourth subject, which is RFPs.  I'm sorry if I'm being more lengthy in these submissions than the Board thought I would be, but I'm trying to work my way through carefully.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We're not running any races here, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I do have some points I want to make about RFPs, because, again, I think these have emerged as -- from other submissions as a point that really requires some response in reply argument for the Board's consideration.

In a way, these issues that have been raised about RFPs actually go to what the proposed RNG program is all about.  As the Board has heard repeatedly -- and I apologize for repeating -- the whole point of the RNG program is that there is not an existing RNG production industry in Ontario.  And this is very relevant to the whole discussion about RFPs.

As we can all appreciate, in any situation, even an existing business or industry, an RFP response can be very speculative, or can be speculative.  A lot of work can go into it without any assurance of an end result.

But there's a big difference with an existing business or industry, in the sense that there's some sort of knowledge base to draw upon for the purposes of an RFP response.  It could involve many different things, including actual experience with projects of the very same kind.  It could include similar work.  It most certainly, in the case of an existing business or industry, is going to include some existing pricing model or mechanism.

So in an existing business or industry, there is all this information to make an RFP process work.  And I would hope it would not be a controversial proposition to indicate that even in those circumstances the success or quality of the RFP process is going to depend on the quality of the information that's out there.  The more imperfect the information that these bidders have in an RFP process, the more likely there's going to be a bad result.

So then we look at the RNG industry.  And in my submission, it's at an extreme, as far as the imperfection of information is concerned.  It does not exist.  So in my submission, this is almost the opposite of a situation where an RFP process would be looked at to bring out the best projects.  And it is, as I've said, it's in effect the reason why the -- or it's connected with the reason why the RNG program is needed.

First, as I've just alluded to, the whole point of an RFP process, as we've heard in various submissions, is to bring forward the best projects on whatever basis.  We've heard about the most cost-effective projects, we've heard about the projects with the best contribution per dollar towards greenhouse gas emissions.

Whatever the parameters are, the point of the process is to bring forward the best projects.  In my submission, given the non-existence of an RNG industry, there's no reason to be confident that an RFP process is going to do this.

The low bidders, where there is such a paucity of information, such imperfect information, are likely to be low bidders for a variety of reasons:  maybe because they suffer from the worst information; maybe because they make mistakes; maybe because they take inordinate risks.

But this is -- in my submission, this is the opposite of bringing forward the best projects.  This is putting bidders in a situation where, because of the lack of information, they may well bring forward projects they shouldn't be for reasons like those that I've referred to, due to the lack of information.

And then the second factor I urge the Board to consider in this context is that the risk of these effects, of the imperfect information, is really heightened when the effort is to put an RFP process into an industry that hasn't even started yet.

One can think about the effects of poor information in other industries.  I think it would be fair to say that there are many cases in the Law Reports about the construction bidding processes where a lack of information caused a bid on a project to be other than it would otherwise have been.

The effect of that is that it could be a tragedy for the project or the particular bidder.  However, that's an existing and established industry, the construction industry.  It's unlikely that something like that is going to have a bad effect on that industry.

But think about the effect on this emerging industry if there's an RFP process, and because of the very imperfect information these bids come forward that appear to be the best bids because of mistakes or lack of information or excessive risk-taking.

In my submission, that is not the way to get an industry started.  That would, in fact, be the opposite of the way to get an industry started in such bad circumstances.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes, mm-hmm.

MS. CHAPLIN:  How does the information that the potential proponents would have be any different than the information that the utilities have relied upon to develop the prices that they are proposing?

MR. CASS:  There would certainly be project-specific information.  There would be connection to the pipeline.  There would be the own -- the RNG producer's own information about its source; in other words, on a farm.

The individual producer has to have information about how much waste it can access, what it can do with that waste, and what is economically achievable by way of a bid into an RNG process.

The individual, case-specific information is crucial to each bidder.  And there is no industry experience on which to base that.  Again, I --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Isn't it equally crucial for those producers, if they are contemplating taking up the offer that the utilities would like to offer them?  I am having difficulty understanding the distinction as it exists now, given that the utilities have undertaken the studies and those studies are now part of the public record.

I'm just trying to understand how there is any difference, in terms of the information that's available to the potential producers, versus your proposal, versus an RFP.

MR. CASS:  But Ms. Chaplin, in my submission, the crucial difference is a bidder trying to use this imperfect information to win a bid, as opposed to trying to figure out whether they can make it work within the RNG program that's being offered.

I would suggest that the risks are much different, because the producer's going to go to all of this effort in order to try to win the bid, presumably, not to lose the bid, and --


MS. CHAPLIN:  But presumably they're not going to bid in order to make a loss; they'd be better offer not winning the bid than to win the bid at a false level.


In the same way, I mean, isn't there also the risk, isn't there then also the comparable risk under your proposal that a producer may attempt to do it at the prices that have been proposed, but they really can't?  Isn't there still -- isn't there a risk that those projects can fail?  And doesn't that bring forth the same risk of undermining this larger objective of trying to enable an industry?

MR. CASS:  I agree that there is a risk, Ms. Chaplin, but I would say it's much less where the producer is attempting to determine whether it can make a proposal work within an existing set of prices, as opposed to spending all the time and effort to evaluate what it can do, and then being in the position of having put all that time and effort into evaluating what it can do, wanting to win something out of that, to win a bid.

I would submit that's quite a different situation.

Again, I would go to the analogy that I'm used to, which is an existing business, where an existing business has sources of information upon which it can come to a credible bid on a project, and can be confident that it has, although not perfect information, that it has a good bid to win a project.

The difference would be that in a situation where that information does not exist, there's -- more time has go building it up and creating the bid because of the lack of information, and then having invested all that time and resource, there's the effort to actually win that bid.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And my submission is that it's -- it's --there's no reason to be confident that that is going to bring forward the best projects in different categories.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And then the third point I wanted to talk about was a problem relating to RFPs that also goes back to the nature of the RNG program.

This is not one homogeneous market.  This is sourcing RNG from potential suppliers that are quite varied, everything from municipal source separated organics, to municipal wastewater treatment, to landfills, to farm-based anaerobic digestion, to anaerobic digestion from other waste materials.

These are very different types of projects, again in an industry that hasn't been started in Ontario.

So the concern - and I alluded to this in argument-in-chief - would be that it may well be that amongst these categories, a particular type of project might have a short-term head start, and these would get skimmed off.

But it may well be that because we have so many different categories, different types of projects, that by skimming off those that have the short-term head start, we actually impair the ability of the other types of projects to come forward.  That's the third point on the RFPs.

And, again, it's to some extent a repetition of what I said in argument-in-chief, that because we have these different project categories, there is a very good reason to be concerned that in an RFP process the ones that are going to be the best projects are those that in the short term perhaps have a -- jump ahead of the others, but not necessarily over the longer term.

[Counsel confer]


Sorry.

So that brings me to the next area of my submissions, which was to deal with, first of all, some areas where I believe there have been misconceptions, and also areas where I believe, at least in the view of Enbridge, the submissions have gone somewhat astray from the real propositions that ought to be before the Board.

In the area of misconceptions, the first I want to address is a notion that actual participants, actual market participants, were not surveyed and talked to.  It's the "talked to" part that I'm addressing this point to.  That's found at volume 6 of the transcript, page 80.

In response to Interrogatory No. 4 from Bullfrog Power, there is some discussion of the efforts made by the two utilities to talk to market participants.  This is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 4.

In the first part of the response, pages 1 to 2 - if I count them I'm at the risk of doing the same thing that Mr. Warren did - but I think it's probably just under 20 market participants are referred to there that were consulted.  And the lead-in to this list of market participants is:

"Potential RNG suppliers that EGD and Union have had discussions with regarding biomethane pricing include..."

And then there's -- in the interrogatory response, there's further elaboration of these discussions.

Another -- there are many of these evidentiary references.  Another one is the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 3, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 3.  Again, there's -- these are not necessarily all market participants, but there's an extensive listing and discussion of the efforts that the utilities made to talk to market participants and other interested stakeholders.

So this notion that the participants were not talked to is just simply wrong.  There was a discussion - this is at volume 2 of the transcript, page 96 - about the fact - and I think this is obvious - that going to market participants to ask them what the price should be is fraught with difficulty.  Obviously there would be a lot of concerns here if the utilities came forward with a price that the actual producers had told them should be the price.

I'm not sure if that is the source of the misperception, but somehow the idea has been built up that the utilities did not actually talk to these participants and did not talk to them about pricing.

And that is simply not the case, and there is much evidence to the contrary.

Now, when this came up, at least in one argument, it occurred because Ms. Fraser, in her submissions, referred to this project developer called Greenlane, and that then prompted CCC to make some comments about Greenlane at volume 6 of the transcript, page 78.  And again, the suggestion is:  Why didn't she talk to them?

Well, in fact, if you were to look at the Electrigaz costing report -- so that's Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 4 -- at page numbered iv there's an acknowledgements page, and it says:

"This study would not have been possible without the support of the following contributors..."

The contributors, of course, include Union Gas and Enbridge Gas, but there are six others.  There are six other market participants that contributed to the Electrigaz study.  And one of these is, in fact, Flotech/Greenlane, which was the entity referred to by Ms. Fraser.

So this concept about not having talked to or obtained the contributions from the market participants is just not correct.

Another concept that seems to permeate at least some of the arguments is that there's this 11 percent return that is a standard and constant return.

As the Board would be well aware from the evidence, the 11 percent was the target that formed the basis for the work that was done to develop the RNG program, but the evidence is most certainly not that the program is designed so that all projects achieve an 11 percent return.  And the reference for this is the Electrigaz Pricing Report, Exhibit B, tab 1, appendix 5.

There's a list there of projected ROE values for the various scenarios.  They start at 1.3 percent for municipal source separated organics, a far cry from 11 percent.

Another proposition that emerged from the arguments that certainly caused me some surprise, leading me to think that I couldn't possibly have understood it, is the proposition that the utilities are putting themselves in the position of picking winners and losers.  That's at volume 6 of the transcript, page 76.

In fact, in my submission, the utilities have tried very hard to develop the program in such a way as to remain neutral, opposite the RNG producers.  It's in fact others who have the suggestions about picking winners and losers.

Again, these could be based on RFPs; they could be based on GHG reductions per dollar.  There have been various propositions about picking winners and losers, but the utilities tried not to put themselves in that position, and it was really very surprising to me that the submission was made that that's what the utilities were doing.

Another submission I would put into the "surprising" category is the one about intergenerational impacts.  That's volume 6 of the transcript, at page 165.  In my argument-in-chief, I filed with the Board Exhibit K4.1 -- and at tab 4 of that is the preamble from a statute amending the Environmental Protection Act which, among other things, as I think I said in argument-in-chief, points out that:

"Taking action now to reduce greenhouse gas emissions is less costly than the potentially severe economic impacts that are risked by inaction."

I would say the intergenerational inequity actually goes the other way.  The intergenerational inequity arises from not doing something and leaving it for future customers to pay the costs of inaction.

I believe it's -- the statement made in that statutory preamble is a commonly accepted view of climate change, that it's going to cost more to do it in the future than it is to deal with it now.

Another submission that I wanted to address in this category was one to the effect that the proposed RNG program directly frustrates and competes with a government program, that being the FIT program.  This is at volume 6 of the transcript, page 135.

In my submission, there is absolutely no reason to think that the government will view its program -- or the government will view the FIT program as having been frustrated if there is another program that is able to capture greater efficiency.

Certainly there would be no reason at all for OMAFRA to be saying the things that it is about RNG production, as we've seen, again, in the documents in Exhibit KP1.1, if there is a concern about RNG production competing with the FIT program.

Also on this point, I would go back to the information that's been filed about the extent to which the utilities have consulted with respect to the RNG program.  In the response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 3, there's a lengthy list of various stakeholders and interested entities that the utilities consulted with.  These include the Ontario Power Authority itself, the Ministry of Energy, OMAFRA, the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, and so on.

So these -- the government and the OPA were consulted.  At page 9 of that same exhibit, there is a summary of the feedback, in this particular instance from provincial ministries and agriculture associations.  The feedback from various groups is summarized throughout this document, but at the top of page 9 there's a heading "provincial ministries and agricultural associations".  The first bullet is supportive.  To the extent that there are concerns raised, one of the concerns is about small farms not being able to participate.

So far from being concerned that there is going to be frustration or competition with what was referred to as a government program, the concern expressed by the government was in fact that perhaps there's not going to be enough participation in the RNG program.

Another submission that was made was that the program would have the effect of taking RNG producers out of the competitive market.  That's at volume 6 of the transcript, page 149.

First of all, there is no RNG production market in Ontario, competitive or otherwise.  So this suggestion that they're being taken out of the competitive market is one that is not even reflective of the Ontario situation.

Second, one would have to think about, who are the -- who would these RNG producers be taken away from?  The sources to take RNG production in Ontario are essentially the utilities and the marketers.

I've already made my submissions with respect to the marketers and the potential role of marketers.  There's really no other -- no other area of the Ontario market that these producers will be taken out of.

A submission that was -- that came up in a number of arguments was about the competency of the utilities to take on this program.  In my submission to the Board, when taken in the context of what intervenors are actually saying, this was really a red herring.

If you look at arguments that have been put before the Board in this proceeding, there are a number of parties that have no similar concerns about their own competency to suggest an RNG program.  At least one intervenor has put forward an extremely detailed proposal for an RNG program.

One might compare that competency to what the utilities did.  First of all, the utilities worked with Electrigaz, which the evidence reveals has unrivalled experience in this area in Canada.  On the evidence, I don't know that there's anyone that the utilities could have worked with that has more experience in Canada.

The utilities worked with Alberta Innovates, formerly the Alberta Research Council.  The utilities had extensive consultation with industry and stakeholders.  And this included consultation within the industry to identify gaps in the development of the industry.  That's at volume 3 of the transcript, pages 54 to 55.

And finally, who other than the utilities are more expert in issues and the aspect of the issues that relate to their own gas-supply planning?  There's been ideas put forward as to how RNG might be used in a gas-supply planning context, but, again, who really has more expertise in that area than the utilities themselves?

So my submission to the Board is that if the intervenors have competency to fashion these RNG proposals for the Board's consideration, with all of the expert assistance and work that the utilities have done, surely those intervenors are not in a position to doubt the competency of the utilities.

Another proposition is that the utilities did not retain an expert to say that this program is what it takes to enable the market.  That's volume 6 of the transcript, page 131, as an example.

I don't even know that there's evidence to support the proposition that there is such thing as a marketing-enabling expert, but my submission to the Board is that such an expert would not really enlighten the Board on the key issues.

The Board has heard that there are a number of factors that bear on how this industry will develop.  One is the price of gas.  A market-enabling expert is not going to know any more about the future price of gas than is now in evidence.

What we do know is that the cost impacts before the Board in this case are based on historically -- a historically low pricing period.  The future, a market-enabling expert is not going to add any clarity to that.

Another similar factor is carbon pricing and what may happen in the future as far as carbon pricing is concerned.  Again, a marketing-enabling expert is not going to know any more than is already in evidence about carbon pricing and what the future for a carbon-pricing regime is in Ontario.

Again, as stated in our argument-in-chief, what we do know is that carbon has a cost, even if it's not being priced yet in Ontario.

So that brings me to the end of my submissions, and I just wanted to wrap up with a few closing comments, if I may.  I'm sorry for having taken up so much of the Board's time.

In closing of my argument, I would like to go back to the points that I made when the preliminary issue was argued at the outset of this proceeding.  What I tried to say at that time -- and I hope I succeeded -- was that, in my submission, whatever the outcome of this proceeding, it's a very useful exercise for the Board to hear about, and not just hear about, but have tested the potential for an RNG program in Ontario.

In the course of the evidence, I think the Board has also heard about actual market participants that have been looking to the utilities to take some leadership in this area.

In the course of the arguments, there have been some parties who actually have commended the utilities for bringing this forward.  That includes, for example, the FRPO argument at page 10.  And as Mr. Maclean said repeatedly, what the utilities have been looking to do in this case is do the right thing.

So for the Board and the extent to which it gave this concept very careful consideration, and for those parties that did indeed take a constructive approach to testing and examining the proposal, on behalf of Enbridge, I'd like to extend thanks for the efforts of the Board to actually give it the consideration that, in my submission, it deserves, regardless of the outcome.

And then, just in conclusion, there was an argument made about costs by one party.  I won't go into any detail, but it would be my submission that regardless of the outcome of this case, the proceeding itself is the proof of the value of the utilities bringing forward this matter for the Board's consideration.

Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

MS. HARE:  I have a few questions, Mr. Cass.

Counsel for Bullfrog put forward some suggestions that would assist in facilitating competition in the sale of gas with respect to education and communication.

Does Enbridge have any thoughts on that recommendation?

MR. CASS:  I don't have -- amongst the things I was able to carry with me this morning, I don't have the Bullfrog document.

Sorry, if you would just give me a moment, Ms. Hare?

MS. HARE:  Sure.

MR. CASS:  I think as a general proposition, Ms. Hare, Enbridge supports the concept of education, clearly.

Again, there is the issue about whether Enbridge gets itself into the role of a marketer and the issue of costs, administrative costs, becoming out of proportion to what's actually been spent on RNG, but as a general proposition, yes, Enbridge supports the concept of education.

MS. HARE:  Several intervenors put forward the proposition that the program should be -- if approved, should be reviewed sort of midway.

Any comments on that?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Speaking on behalf of Enbridge, Ms. Hare, again, the concept of a review is not an issue at all.

Where there is an issue is simply the fact that there is a lead time to -- even once you have the first project ready to go, there's a lead time for it to actually be put into place.  And going by memory, I think the evidence is 18 months to two years.

So the concern would be that if you have a review after two to three years, you may not have much to review.  That's the only area of concern that I'm aware of.

Other than that, the concept of a review is certainly one that Enbridge does not have a difficulty with.

MS. HARE:  My last question.  A few of the intervenors that were urging the Board not to approve the program also suggest that if there was to be an approval, that the Board not redesign the program, I think the comment was, on the fly.

Do you have any comments on that?  In other words, that there's some type of approval but it's not what you have applied for, and their suggestion was that the Board not do that.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I'll try to answer it this way, Ms. Hare.  The word "redesign" sounds like something quite major, and in that context, assuming they're talking about something quite large, redesigning the whole program, I can understand the concern, that coming out of a decision you would have a fully re-designed program.

Having said that, the Board clearly has power to attach conditions to any order.  I don't have the statutory reference in front of me, but that's as clear as day.  And to extent that the Board felt it was able to approve something and attached some conditions, that, of course, is the Board's decision, and then the utilities would have to assess, you know, their ability to make the program work with those conditions.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  It's just "redesign" sounds very broad, and I can understand a concern about redesign.

MS. HARE:  That might have been my word, not their word.  It might have been something like "revamping."

MR. CASS:  Fair enough.  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Cass.

We'll take a short break and come back at 10 minutes after 11:00 for your reply, Mr. Smith.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:13 a.m.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Please be seated.
Reply Argument by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and Panel.

I'd like do three things in these reply submissions, which I expect to be well under half an hour, I'm sure the Panel will be pleased to hear.

The first is to very quickly address Union's position or positions on the three questions raised by Ms. Hare.  The second is to deal with what I would call a sort of category of issues around evidence, and expert evidence in particular, that arose in this hearing.  And then thirdly and finally, I'd like to talk briefly about alternative proposals as they were raised in responding argument.

So first, on the three questions raised, not necessarily in the order in which they were asked, but the first was with respect to a mid-term review.  And we would just refer the Board to Undertaking J3.1, where the utility's position on that point is set out quite clearly.

On the second question, the question of education and the Bullfrog proposal, we would agree with the submissions of Mr. Cass about the value of generic education about RNG, but we'd want to make clear that that can't shade into marketing on behalf of third-party marketers.

And then, on the third question, the question of redesign on-the-fly, we have nothing to add to Enbridge's response.  So that's the end of the first issue.

So the second issue, as I've identified it, are evidence issues.  And I want to start with the distinction between expert evidence, which is proffered by an expert witness and is subject to testing through cross-examination, and what I will call, in scare quotes, "intimations of expert evidence" or "phantom expert evidence".

What are intimations of expert evidence?  In my submission, they are responding submissions that allude to and rely on what would be expert evidence if it was properly before the Board.

The problem with relying on such quote-unquote evidence, however, is that it was never in fact before the Board and is not evidence at all.  Submissions along these lines, in my submission, have the potential to muddy the waters and obscure the actual evidentiary record.

And I think it's important to note at the outset that Union called three experts, an expert on polling, an expert on biogas engineering, and Dr. Abboud, a scientist whose expertise is in waste and the recovery of waste.

There were no responding experts.  I just start with that fundamental observation.  And as a result, much of the expert evidence in this hearing is unrefuted, except to the extent that it has been undermined through cross-examination; and in my submission, that really hasn't happened.

So I'll start with a submission from Energy Probe.  And there are just four instances of, you know, phantom expert evidence that I want to talk about.  But I do think it is important to clarify the record on this point.

In responding argument, counsel for Energy Probe took you to the preamble of a statute passed by the government of Ontario which had been referenced by my friend Mr. Cass.  And I'm reluctant to paraphrase that submission, so I'll ask you to turn it up.  It's at volume 6, page 168, line 22.  So, sorry, it's volume 6, page 168, starting at line 22.  And I'm just going to read the relevant part of the record.

So the submission is:

"Mr. Cass has brought your attention to Exhibit K4.1 and referred to at volume 5, page 158:"

And then the quote:

"'An Act to amend the Environmental Protection Act with respect to greenhouse gas emissions, trading, and other economic and financial instruments and market based approaches.  This was assented to on December 15th, 2009.'  And let me quote from the preamble."

And then the quote from the preamble:

"'The intergovernmental panel on climate change that was set up by the World Meteorological Organization and by the United Nations Environment Program has concluded that warming of the climate system' -- and that is unequivocal -- 'and that most of the observed increase in global average temperature is due to human activities.  Strong and sustained action is required to minimize the task posed by climate change.'"

And then comes the submission that I really invite you to focus on.  And that is:

"And so Energy Probe would point out that Mr. Cass is relying on information that is clearly out of date."

So what does that mean?  The next paragraph begins:

"As we now know, there is no consensus among scientists or, indeed, governments on either global warming or its relationship to human activities."

That's Energy Probe's submission.  And what I'd ask you to focus on is not just the claim that this information is out of date, but the following statement, "as we now know", and I ask:  How do we know?  What is being referred to there?


And in my submission, this is a clear example of phantom expert evidence.  Energy Probe did not lead any expert evidence to establish this remarkable proposition that apparently, as a matter of science, the preamble to an Ontario statute is -- and I quote -- "out of date."

There was only one scientist who has given expert evidence in this proceeding on climate change.  That's Dr. Abboud, and his uncontested expert evidence is that there is not scientific uncertainty about climate change.  So this is a mere intimation of expert evidence and should, in my submission, be completely disregarded.

The next example of phantom expert evidence, as I've called it, is from FRPO, and in FRPO's responding submissions, which included the submission on something called "cognitive dissonance" at page 7 of those submissions.

This concept was raised on the cross-examination of Ms. Guiry, and - the reference for that is at volume 3, page 104 - and her evidence was that she was not familiar with the term.

In FRPO's responding submissions, counsel for FRPO stated that he found this surprising.  And I'll ask you to just turn up page 6 of FRPO's submissions.

And if we look at that page at -- sorry -- oh, actually, yes, starting on page 6, "impact of cognitive dissonance".  That's paragraph 8(a).  The submission is:

"We were surprised that the expert witness provided to speak to this survey could not provide a working definition of cognitive dissonance as it pertains to a market survey.  We believe that it is important that this term have a definition in this proceeding."

And then a definition of this term of art - that's what I'm assuming it is, a term of art either in psychology or in the social science of polling or whatever - is then given.  There's a definition.  And I'm not going to read the definition, but I'll just note that the source at footnote 28 is not any expert who gave evidence in this proceeding, but rather changingminds.org/explanations/theories/cognitive_dissonance.  I certainly would have remembered that cross-examination if it had happened.

So again, this is just an example of a mere intimation of expert evidence, and should be completely disregarded.

The next example, the third of four, is with respect to CCC.  The Board allowed CCC to put three documents to witnesses, the Gwyn Morgan opinion piece from the Globe and Mail, the Fraser Institute report, and the Auditor General's report.

The Board stated at volume 4, page 47, lines 27 and 28, that the purpose of these documents was not to have them tendered as evidence - which is to say for the truth of their contents - but merely as a, and I quote:
"Tool to put propositions to witnesses."

So not evidence; merely a tool for cross-examination.

Nonetheless, Mr. Warren made reference in his responding submissions to how the Auditor General had, and I quote, "heavily criticized" the FIT program in the Auditor General's report, suggesting that what he characterized as the Auditor General's criticisms of FIT also applied to this program.  And that's at volume 6, page 64, line 26.

And again, with respect, this is not evidence; it's a gloss on a report that was not in evidence.  The Auditor General was not cross-examined on it.  This is a bald allegation, unsupported by any evidence properly before the Board, and it should be completely disregarded.

The fourth and last example I will draw the Board's attention to concerns CMA, and something called "push polling."

In responding argument, Mr. Thompson claimed that Mr. Hughes had demonstrated that the Ipsos Reid poll was, substantively, something known within the industry as a quote-unquote push poll, again, a term of art within the industry.

And if we turn to the actual part of the transcript where Mr. Hughes puts a definition of a push poll to Ms. Geary, he characterizes it as his layman's definition, or words to that effect, pointing to the fact that this is, again, a term of art having to do with an expert field of knowledge.

So in the course of that, Mr. Thompson claimed -- Mr. Thompson claims that Mr. Hughes had demonstrated that the poll was a push poll.  And in my submission, that is not at all accurate.

Mr. Hughes put a definition of a push poll to Ms. Geary, which Ms. Geary accepted.  That's at volume 2, pages 139 and 140.

Mr. Hughes' cross-examination did not demonstrate that the Ipsos Reid poll was a push poll.  No expert evidence was led to establish that it was a push poll, and Mr. Hughes informed the Board that, in his view, Ms. Geary was appropriately recognized as an expert on public opinion survey research.  That's at volume 2, page 133.

There is no evidence before the Board to establish that the Ipsos Reid poll was methodologically flawed.  The uncontested expert evidence of Ms. Geary is that the poll was methodologically sound.  And that was at volume 2, pages 16 and 17.

So that's all I have to say on the second issue, the issue of evidentiary issues and phantom expert evidence.

Because, in my submission, the utilities have made great efforts to put appropriate expert evidence before the Board to help the Board properly determine the merits of this application, and I don't think it's fair or appropriate for them to be wrestling with phantoms, as it were.  It's not just out of fairness to the Board -- or rather, it's not just out of fairness to the utilities, it's out of fairness to the Board.

There's a reason why expert evidence has to be subject to scrutiny.  I'm not going to say more on that point.

So finally, my third issue, which is alternative proposals.  I will reply very briefly and at a high level to various alterations to or alternatives to the program that were raised in responding argument.

Now, the first of these has to do with scaling the project down.  And counsel for VECC suggested that if the Board approves the program in some form, then it should be at the smallest volume cap possible to actually foster an RNG program.  And the reference for that is volume 6, page 154.

And the point that Mr. Buonaguro was making, as I understand it from having reviewed the transcripts, is that the 5.5 pJs are based on a tolerance level of two percent, and the survey went so low as to ask about a tolerance of half a percent, or 25 percent of two percent.  And Mr. Buonaguro suggests that it would be reasonable for the Board to conclude that a 0.5 percent volume cap would provide an adequate foundation for an RNG market.  And the reference for that is Volume 6 at the middle of page 156.

And the submission I'd make on this point is that there is no evidence before the Board that that level would be sufficient to foster the RNG market.  There is no evidence that the utilities ran the numbers, so to speak, on what would be required before the Board's survey was conducted.  There's no evidentiary basis for the inference that the utilities had determined 0.5 percent would foster RNG; there's simply no evidence.

There is, however, evidence of Mr. Goulden that reducing it to that level, to the 0.5 percent or by 75 percent, would probably compromise the development of the market.  It's reducing it to a level of around 1.375 pJs.  And if you look at the transcript at volume 3, page 169, lines 2 to 11, it's very clear that the evidence before this Board is that the utilities believe that 1.357 -- or, sorry, 1.375 pJs certainly falls below any sort of safety zone, any zone of reasonable viability.

And so it follows from that, in my submission, that Mr. Buonaguro's inference is, on the evidence, not correct.

So I'll turn to another proposal for scaling back the project, and that's the proposal of Bullfrog.  Bullfrog talked about a small auction or RFP process - that's at volume 6, page 108, line 3 - and not volumetric, but in the alternative, if volumetric, then on the scale of Fortis BC.

And again, the point I will be making here is about evidence.  There is no evidence before the Board that the Fortis project has created the foundation for a viable RNG market in BC.  There is no basis for concluding that it has.

Evidence was filed by Bullfrog, but ultimately withdrawn, with relation to the issue of a market.  And we have expressed concern -- or rather, Bullfrog has expressed concern about the impact of the program on the market for RNG in Ontario.  And that's at volume 6, page 103.

And sometimes it's not entirely clear in the submissions whether we're talking about the present or the future, in terms of impact on the market for RNG, but -- just out of an abundance of caution and to be perfectly clear -- it is Union's position that there is no RNG market in Ontario, and that there will not be one anytime soon without the program.  And more on that can be found at the Interrogatory No. 2 for Bullfrog.

The next alteration I'll turn to is opt-in, opt-out.  The only thing I'm going to say about that is that we agree with all seven of the reasons given by Mr. Cass, and we have nothing to add.

In terms of the next proposed alteration, it's what I term differently allocating costs of the program.  And the one example we have seen here that is a little more -- or a little less indistinct -- let's put it that way -- has to do with compressor fuel.

And in our submission, that is -- there's no evidence on how that would work.  We don't know how it would work.  And our understanding is it's too complex to implement, for a number of reasons.

Now, moving on to the next issue -- that is, the mechanism for a role for marketers -- again, we agree with Mr. Cass's submissions, and we just underline that the costs must pass through for system gas customers.

And subject to any questions you may have, those are my submissions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Smith.

Before we adjourn, are there any matters that the Board should address itself to?

The Panel will reserve its decision and provide a decision in due course.  And we stand adjourned.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 11:34 a.m.
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